STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

ROBERT LEE WRIGHT,

PETITIONER S.C. SUPREME COURT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002249

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUL 08 2019

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by abandoning her request for a jury instruction on the defense of accident where the evidence supported such an instruction?
- II. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by failing to object to testimony regarding toxicology testing and results from the pathologist where the pathologist did not perform the actual toxicology tests and acted as a mere conduit for the results?
- III. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by failing to object to the state's questioning of Petitioner, which pitted his testimony against the testimony of the state's key eyewitnesses, where the only evidence the state presented to contradict Petitioner's testimony that he acted in self-defense was from those eyewitnesses, making credibility critical?
- IV. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by failing to object to inaccurate and misleading portions of the jury instructions?

STATEMENT

Petitioner's mother, Betty Scott, was involved in a romantic relationship with Christopher "Chris" Jenkins for several years. App. 748, ll. 20-21; App. 749, ll. 2-9; App. 773, ll. 1-3. When Betty ended the relationship, Chris vacillated between trying to win Betty's affections back through gifts and expressing his anger by berating her publicly or stealing from her. App. 750, l. 1 – App. 751, l. 9; App. 757, ll. 8-12; App. 758, l. 17 – App. 761, l. 25; App. 764, ll. 14-25; App. 773, ll. 14-16; App. 745, ll. 13-21; App. 747, ll. 4-9.

In April 2010, Petitioner learned that Chris made his mother cry. At the insistence of his grandmother, who was worried about Betty's safety, Petitioner went to talk to Chris. Petitioner found Chris at a nearby basketball court. In April 2010, Petitioner attempted to reason with Chris regarding his behavior toward Betty. App. 775, ll. 2-9; App. 794, ll. 3-14; App. 775, l. 19 – App. 776, l. 3; App. 794, ll. 17-24; App. 798, ll. 3-9. However, Chris was not receptive to Petitioner's intervention; instead, Chris was belligerent and combative. The two men fought for a few seconds with both men walking away uninjured. App. 776, ll. 3 – 12; App. 793, ll. 13-19; App. 795, ll. 1-15.

On June 10, 2010, Petitioner learned that Chris had been bothering Betty that day. App. 752, l. 14 – App. 753, l. 15; App. 763, ll. 9-25; App. 764, ll. 11-18; App. 796, ll. 11-20; App. 797, ll. 3-6; App. 738, ll. 10-19; App. 739, ll. 2-8; App. 739, l. 25 – App. 740 l. 1; App. 740, ll. 11-17. While driving home from his mother's house, Petitioner saw Chris walking down the street. Petitioner stopped his car, got out, and called out to Chris. App. 779, ll. 9-15; App. 783, ll. 3-5; App. 783, ll. 17-22; App. 799, ll. 4-10. Chris reacted by stepping into the street with his fists up. App. 784, ll. 1-9; App. 799, ll. 10-11; App. 799, l. 25 – App. 800, l. 3. Although Petitioner repeatedly told Chris he did not want to fight, Chris continued to approach in a

threatening way. App. 784, ll. 11-25; App. 799, ll. 11-13. The two men then started fighting. This fight, like the previous one, lasted only seconds with both men walking away at the end. App. 785, ll. 2-25; App. 786, ll. 1-6; App. 800, l. 21 – App. 802, l. 6.

Chris walked home and went to bed. App. 556, ll. 1-21; App. 572, ll. 4-8; App. 604, ll. 3-5; App. 611, ll. 6-8; App. 628, ll. 2-7. The following day, Chris appeared to be having a seizure, so his family called for help. Chris was transported to a hospital where he later died. App. 557, ll. 8-10; App. 614, l. 9 – App. 615, l. 6. The pathologist concluded Chris died from blunt force trauma to the chest. App. 705, ll. 4-16. There were almost no external injuries, but Chris suffered ten fractured ribs on his right side and internal bleeding. App. 697, l. 9 – App. 699, l. 1; App. 714, l. 6 – App. 715, l. 14. Had Chris received medical attention more quickly, he would have survived. App. 715, ll. 15-25.

On June 12, 2010, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2010-GS-10-6153). App. 1282-1283. The state, represented by Benjamin Simpson and Jessica Baldwin, called the case for trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury on February 24, 2014. Lorelle Proctor and Alicia Penn represented Petitioner. App. 472. The judge instructed the jury concerning murder, voluntary manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, and self-defense. App. 863, l. 3 – App. 869, l. 24. During its deliberations, the jury requested a definition of malice. App. 872, ll. 22-24. In response, the judge re-instructed the jury on malice. App. 873, l. 25 – App. 875, l. 2. Just over one hour later, the jury reached a verdict. App. 875, ll. 7-8; App. 475, ll. 21-22. The jury found Petitioner guilty of murder. App. 876, ll. 4-10. Judge Harrington sentenced Petitioner to forty years' imprisonment. App. 884, ll. 5-9; App. 1284.

On February 27, 2014, Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider sentence. App. 887-888. On that same date, Petitioner filed a motion for new trial. App. 889. By an order filed March 25, 2014,

Judge Harrington denied Petitioner's requests. App. 890. Thereafter, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. On April 7, 2015, undersigned counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). App. 891-907. On March 3, 2016, the Court denied undersigned counsel's motion to be relieved and directed the parties to brief the following issue: Whether the trial court erred in ruling the defenses of accident and self-defense are mutually exclusive and whether this issue is preserved for appellate review. App. 908. Thus, undersigned counsel filed a brief addressing the question presented by the Court. App. 909-928. On January 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction, finding trial counsel abandoned her request for a jury instruction on accident. App. 955-956; State v. Wright, 2017-UP-005 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 11, 2017). Remittitur issued on January 27, 2017. App. 957.

On March 31, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 958-1194. Subsequently, Petitioner, through counsel, filed amendments to his PCR application. App. 1195-1196. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Thomas Russo on March 1, 2018. App. 1212. Megan Jameson represented the state. App. 1212. James K. Falk represented Petitioner. App. 1212. By an order filed December 6, 2018, Judge Russo denied Petitioner relief. App. 1256-1281.

Petitioner served his notice of appeal on December 18, 2018. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688.

Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694. Specifically, on the prejudice prong, the question to ask is “whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” Id. (emphasis added). The United States Supreme Court specifically ruled that “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Id. Moreover, the Court held that:

The ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case the court should be

concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.

Id. at 696.

Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different.

Id. at 695.

I. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by abandoning her request for a jury instruction on the defense of accident where the evidence supported such an instruction.

Relevant facts

Trial

During the charge conference, the state objected to Petitioner's request for an instruction on accident. App. 808, ll. 7-21. Petitioner argued he was entitled to a jury instruction on accident because the evidence showed he did not intend to cause the death of the decedent. Citing State v. Burris, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999) for the proposition that in order to charge the law of accident, the evidence must demonstrate the killing was unintentional and that the defendant was acting lawfully, Petitioner argued the evidence showed just that. App. 809, ll. 1-8.

The judge asked Petitioner to explain "the difference between accident and self-defense in this particular case" because the judge was "having a hard time distinguishing between the two." App. 809, ll. 10-15. According to the judge's view, in order to claim self-defense, Petitioner was admitting that he "intended to do that act of defending himself." The judge further expressed that "even if the facts did fit those two are apposite defenses, meaning you can't act in self-defense and

it be an accident.” App. 809, ll. 19-23. Thereafter, the judge asked defense counsel to reconcile the two. App. 809, l. 25 – App. 810, l. 1. Defense counsel responded, “I’m probably not that good, Your Honor, but if the Court is telling me that it’s one or the other in that case we would ask for self-defense.” App. 810, ll. 2-4. The judge indicated she wanted the charge to be “the accurate statement of law based upon the facts as presented.” App. 810, ll. 5-7. Further, the judge stated she did “not know in this scenario how it can be both.” App. 810, ll. 7-8. To this, defense counsel responded, “In that case we would just ask for self-defense.” App. 810, ll. 9-10. Thereafter, the judge announced she would “not be charging accident.” App. 810, l. 14.

During her closing argument, defense counsel argued the case involved “a fight between two grown men.” App. 825, ll. 17-18. Further, defense counsel argued the question before the jury was what Petitioner “thought.” App. 826, ll. 1-2. It was necessary for the jury to “look at the intent, the intent behind the act.” App. 826, ll. 5-6. The jury would be required to examine what Petitioner intended. App. 826, ll. 7-8. According to defense counsel, the evidence showed Petitioner “did not intend to kill Chris.” App. 826, ll. 8-10. Defense counsel told the jury “[i]t never crossed [Petitioner]’s mind that he would be charged with murder because he didn’t mean it. He didn’t mean to kill Chris.” App. 834, ll. 11-13. She told the jury that Petitioner “did not mean for any of this to happen. He never wanted to hurt Chris that bad. He never wanted him to die.” App. 835, ll. 7-9.

Direct appeal

Initially, undersigned counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), on Petitioner’s behalf. App. 891-907. The issue presented was whether the trial judge erred in failing to instruct the jury regarding the defense of accident. App. 891-907. Subsequently, the Court of Appeals denied undersigned counsel’s motion to be relieved and directed the parties to

brief the following issue: Whether the trial court erred in ruling the defenses of accident and self-defense are mutually exclusive and whether this issue is preserved for appellate review. App. 908. Thus, undersigned counsel filed a brief addressing the question presented by the Court. App. 909-928. The state responded by arguing the issue was not preserved for appellate review because trial counsel withdrew her request for the instruction. App. 929-954. In the alternative, the state argued the trial judge correctly concluded that accident and self-defense are mutually exclusive, despite clear case law to contrary, and that Petitioner was not entitled to the charge of accident because the evidence did not support the charge. App. 929-954. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction, finding trial counsel abandoned her request for a jury instruction on accident. App. 955-956; State v. Wright, 2017-UP-005 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 11, 2017). The Court of Appeals expressed no opinion on the merits of the claim. App. 955-956; State v. Wright, 2017-UP-005 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 11, 2017).

PCR hearing

Trial counsel revealed that her "overall trial strategy" was that Petitioner acted in self-defense or that the death was the result of an accident. App. 1235, ll. 2-6; App. 1240, ll. 1-2. During the PCR hearing, trial counsel indicated she thought "accident would have been appropriate" because "there was this issue of whether or not the strikes were accidental or whether [Petitioner] meant to cause the death." App. 1217, ll. 1-10. Counsel explained "there was no question" the alleged victim "walked away," and Petitioner "walked away" from the altercation. App. 1217, ll. 1-10. Counsel said there was "no doubt in [her] mind that the death was accidental." App. 1235, ll. 7-11. Trial counsel admitted she requested a jury instruction on accident, but also admitted that when the trial judge challenged her on the request for both accident and self-defense, she failed to preserve her request for an instruction on accident. App. 1217, l. 11 – App. 1218, l. 18.

Order denying relief

The PCR judge found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve her request for a jury instruction on accident because Petitioner “was not entitled to such a jury instruction.” App. 1279. After reciting the elements of accident, the PCR judge found “[t]he first element, an unintentional killing, [was] not met, as the testimony from multiple witnesses and [Petitioner] himself show[ed] that [Petitioner] intended to beat the [alleged] victim.” App. 1279. The PCR judge also concluded that Petitioner’s awareness of the problems between Petitioner’s mother and the alleged victim showed Petitioner’s desire to harm the alleged victim. App. 1279. Thus, the judge concluded the evidence “establishe[d]” Petitioner intentionally attacked the alleged victim. App. 1279.

Turning to the second element, the PCR judge concluded Petitioner was not acting lawfully. App. 1279. According to the PCR judge “[u]nder both versions of the facts, [Petitioner] was committing an assault and battery, a criminal act, at the time of the incident, and was not acting in self-defense because he initiated the contact with the victim and was not in imminent danger when he slammed the victim to the ground.” App. 1279.

Finally, the PCR judge determined Petitioner was not exercising due care in the handling of a weapon – his hands and feet – because Petitioner “used a substantial amount of force to inflict the deadly blows.” App. 1279-1280. Thus, the judge concluded that “[b]ased on the severity of the victim’s injuries, the only reasonable conclusion was that [Petitioner]’s hands and feet were used as deadly weapons with which he did not use due care.” App. 1280.

Discussion

During the prosecutor’s opening statement, he told the jury “the central issue in this case, is that exactly what [Petitioner] had in mind when he violently beat Christopher Jenkins? I don’t

know. *And at the close of this trial you won't either.*” R. 59, lines 3-10 (emphasis added). From the very beginning, the jury was put on notice – by the prosecution – that the evidence was not definitive as to what Petitioner intended to do. Rather, the jury would be required to examine the evidence before it to deduce Petitioner’s intent. Continuing in his opening statement, the prosecutor asked the jury if Petitioner “set out to do violence? Did [Petitioner] set out to hurt someone? If the answer to that question is yes and the person died as a cause of those injuries then the correct verdict is guilty of murder.” R. 59, lines 3-10. Thus, the prosecutor understood that the facts before the jury would require a determination of what Petitioner intended to do, specifically whether he intended to cause harm, the issue at the very heart of the accident defense. Nevertheless, when the time arrived for the jury to make this determination, the defense of accident was not permitted due to the judge’s misapprehension that self-defense and accident were mutually exclusive defenses, and trial counsel’s abandonment of her request for the instruction.

The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). Reversible error is committed if the trial court fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). A trial court’s refusal to grant a jury instruction based upon a sound principle of law applicable to the case before the trial court is an error of law. Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 390, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should give the charge in question. State v. Burris, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999); State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 648, 664 S.E.2d 465, 468 (2008).

Much of the case law in South Carolina involving the defense of accident includes discussions of the elements of self-defense and how those elements integrate with the defense of

accident. “In South Carolina, the defense of accident requires a showing that the harm caused was unintentional, that the defendant was acting lawfully at the time of the incident, and due care was exercised in handling the weapon.” State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 116, 674 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2010); see also State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 672 S.E.2d 786 (2009) (citing Burriss, 334 S.C. at 259, 513 S.E.2d at 106); State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994); State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 32 S.E.2d 825 (1945); State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 316, 733 S.E.2d 605, 610 (Ct. App. 2012).

In the context of a death caused by a gunshot wound, the homicide is excusable as an accident when the evidence shows the defendant was acting lawfully in self-defense and the victim was shot by accident through the unintentional discharge of a gun. Goodson, 312 S.C. at 281, 440 S.E.2d at 372 (citing State v. McCaskill, 300 S.C. 256, 387 S.E.2d 268 (1990)). “[A] person can be acting lawfully, even if he is in unlawful possession of a weapon, if he was entitled to arm himself in self-defense at the time of the shooting.” Burriss, 334 S.C. at 262, 513 S.E.2d at 108. Thus, a person armed in self-defense is entitled to a charge of accident if the killing was unintentional. Id.

In State v. Chatman, 336 S.C. 149, 519 S.E.2d 100 (1999), this Court affirmed a trial court’s refusal to instruct the jury on accident. The evidence showed Chatman was holding another person in a non-traditional chokehold. Id. at 152-153, 519 S.E.2d at 101-102. Analyzing the requirement that a defendant must act lawfully in order for accident to apply, this Court reasoned that Chatman “was not acting lawfully, since he was engaged in an assault and battery, unless he was acting in self-defense.” Id. at 153, 519 S.E.2d at 102. Thereafter, this Court analyzed the evidence of Chatman’s conduct to conclude he was not acting in self-defense. This Court reasoned “[i]f [the defendant] was not acting in self-defense, then he could not have

been acting lawfully and he was not entitled to an accident charge.” Id. at 154, 519 S.E.2d at 102.

In Tisdale v. State, 378 S.C. 122, 124, 662 S.E.2d 410, 412 (2008), this Court held defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to request an instruction as to accident. Id. At the trial, the defendant testified that when he refused to drive the alleged victim where he wanted to go, the alleged victim began yelling and punched him in the face. Id. Then, the alleged victim pulled a gun. Id. The two struggled over the gun. Id. The gun went off while it was still in the alleged victim’s hand. Id. The defendant testified that the gun was never in his hand. Id. This Court held that evidence indicated the alleged victim was the aggressor as shown by him punching the defendant in the face and presenting a gun. This evidence along with evidence that the gun discharged accidentally supported the charge of accident. Id. at 126, 662 S.E.2d at 412-413.

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