STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 27 2019

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-002249

---

ROBERT LEE WRIGHT,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

BENJAMIN LIMBAUGH  
S.C. Bar No. 103334  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

### ARGUMENT

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Butler*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing *Strickland*). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

**I. The post-conviction relief court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for abandoning a jury instruction on accident where the evidence did not support giving that charge.**

Petitioner alleges trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly preserve her initial request for a jury instruction on accident, thereby depriving the appellate courts from ruling on the propriety of the trial court's ruling.

During the charge conference, Petitioner requested a charge on the defense of accident. (R. p. 336, line 22). Before hearing from Petitioner, Judge Harrington asked the State to assert its position. The colloquy was as follows:

**The Court:** Tell me what your position is to accident.

**Mr. Simpson:** Your Honor, we would not be conceding to a charge on accident. The doctrine of accident under the law, I think, applies to the act itself and whether an act is done intentionally or not, and I just don't think there's any conceivable view or any evidence even under that standard that the charge of accident is proper in the case.

The charge of accident is different than – an allegation of accident is different than an allegation that the acts were justified. In self-defense the defendant is simply saying that he is legally justified in doing an intentional act. The law of accident, it would have to be that he accidentally punched the victim, he accidentally took the victim to the ground, and I just don't see any conceivable –

**The Court:** Ms. Penn, tell me from the facts that I have heard make fit this for me, because I'm having a difficult time making them fit under how I understand the theory of both the State's and the defense cases.

**Ms. Penn:** Simply, your honor, that Mr. Wright did not intend to cause Mr. Jenkin's death. From my reading of State v Burrell I believe that we must show the killing was unintentional and the defendant was acting lawfully, and, of course, that part about the weapon, which there were no weapons in this case. And I think jury could find that he was acting lawfully in defending himself and that the killing was unintentional.

**Mr. Simpson:** May I respond?

**The Court:** Ms. Penn, maybe I'm having difficulty understanding your analysis. Tell me the difference between accident and self-defense in this particular case. I think that's where I'm having a hard time distinguishing the two because if he's claiming self-defense he's acting lawfully under the defense, correct?

**Ms. Penn:** Yes, ma'am.

**The Court:** I mean, that's your position?

**Ms. Penn:** It is.

**The Court:** And he intended to do that act of defending himself. If you want me to charge accident in my mind even if the facts did fit those are two apposite defenses, meaning you can't act in self-defense and it be an accident.

**Ms. Penn:** Yes ma'am.

**The Court:** Maybe you could reconcile that for me or have I –

**Ms. Penn:** I'm probably not that good, Your Honor, but if the court is telling me that it's one or the other in that case we would ask for self-defense.

**The Court:** I'm saying that's how I see it. I want to charge the accurate statement of law based upon the facts as presented. I don't know in this scenario how it could be both.

**Ms. Penn:** Yes, ma'am. In that case we would just ask for self-defense.

**The Court:** Do you need a moment to talk with Ms. Proctor?

**Ms. Penn:** No, ma'am.

**The Court:** I will not be charging accident. I will charge self-defense.

(R. p. 336, line 12-R. p. 339, line 15).

On appeal, Petitioner raised a challenge to the trial court's denial of his request for an accident charge. The Court of Appeals determined trial counsel had abandoned the issue below. Petitioner now contends trial counsel was ineffective in waiving this issue because it precluded the appellate court from determining the propriety of the trial court's refusal to charge accident.

Petitioner was not entitled to such a jury instruction. A homicide will be excusable on the ground of accident when (1) the killing was unintentional, (2) the defendant was acting lawfully,

and (3) due care was exercised in the handling of the weapon. State v. Chatman, 336 S.C. 149, 153, 519 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1999). The record establishes Petitioner's actions do not meet these three requirements.

First, the testimony elicited during trial from multiple witnesses, including Petitioner, showed that Petitioner intended to beat the victim. Testimony from the two minor witnesses showed that the victim was walking them to the store when Petitioner pulled up in a car, body slammed the victim, and proceeded to beat and stomp on his chest. The clear testimony presented to the jury was that Petitioner violently attacked the victim, ultimately resulting in his death. Petitioner has failed to show how the acts that lead to the victim's death were in any way unintentional. Petitioner cites to multiple cases relating to court's charging accident when a gun is accidentally discharged during an altercation. The cases Petitioner cites are not factually similar or relevant to the case at hand, as a gun accidentally going off during an altercation is substantially different from a one-sided fight where a gun is not involved. Petitioner intentionally attacked and beat the victim to the point where his injuries resulted in death, the facts are dissimilar to those in the cited cases supporting a court charging accident to the jury. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show how the facts would have supported the trial court giving this jury instruction at trial.

Second, the testimony at trial showed that Petitioner was not acting lawfully in when he attacked the victim. The testimony from multiple witnesses was that Petitioner initiated the contact with the victim and was not in imminent danger at the time of the incident. Again, Petitioner attacked the victim as he was walking to the store with two minor children. There was testimony at trial that the victim looked "threatening", however, that fact alone would not be enough to support Petitioner's contention that he was acting lawfully in self-defense in beating

the victim. Petitioner has failed to show how the facts would have supported the second element that he was acting lawfully and not that he was simply attacking the victim. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show how the facts would have supported the trial court giving this jury instruction at trial.

Third, the evidence and testimony from the trial clearly show that Petitioner did not exercise due care in handling of the weapon, his hands and feet, during his fight with the victim. Dr. Batalis testified a significant amount of force would have had to been used to break the victim's ten ribs. (R. p. 229, line 15; R. p. 230, lines 9-20; R. p. 232, lines 12-14; R. p. 241, lines 19-21; R. p. 242, line 3; R. p. 247, lines 11-18; R. p. 249, lines 1-6). He explained, "The type of injuries to have in this location and this number of fractures is something we more typically see in motor vehicle accident or car accident." (R. p. 230, lines 9-12). Petitioner did not stop beating the victim when he felt any perceived threat had subsided, he continued to attack him with substantial force. The force used by Petitioner through his fists and his feet was enough to ultimately cause the death of the victim. The use of this amount of force in a fight would not be considered the exercise of due care when the result is the death of the victim. Accordingly, Petitioner does not satisfy any of the three elements for an accident defense. "No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence." State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show how the facts at trial would have supported any element of accident, let alone all of them. Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to preserve the objection to the trial court not giving this jury instruction. The post-conviction relief court properly dismissed this allegation.

**II. The post-conviction relief court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony regarding toxicology testing where there were no grounds for an objection.**

Petitioner alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony regarding toxicology testing and results from the pathologist where the pathologist did not perform the actual toxicology tests and acted as a conduit for the results. However, the expert witness testified he interpreted the results of the toxicology report, incorporated the results into his autopsy report, provided ultimately irrelevant testimony concerning the defense theory, and provided testimony potentially beneficial to Petitioner.

At trial, Dr. Batalis testified to the following concerning the results of the victim's toxicology results:

Q. And, Doctor, you mentioned sending off bodily fluids for toxicology purposes. You would get the results back from another trusted source of that toxicology report?

A. Yes. We send these samples to a nationally accredited forensic laboratory. They do the testing. They then provide the results back to us to interpret and incorporate into our report.

(R. p. 225)

Q. And what were the results of that toxicology screen of Christopher Jenkins?

A. So we tested blood that- we obtained at the autopsy and it was positive for only three substances. One is a drug called atropine, which is commonly used by EMS or physicians in the emergency room to revive the heart or resuscitate somebody. He also had caffeine in his system, and then the drug called Naprosyn, which is an anti-inflammatory drug. If you've ever taken Aleve, that's what Naprosyn is. Similar to ibuprofen.

Q. So present in his system was a drug commonly used by EMS in treating somebody?

A. EMS and physicians, yes.

Q. Caffeine?

A. Yes.

Q. And something you would get from Aleve?

A. Yes.

Q. Any alcohol in his blood at the time the toxicology report was done?

A. There was no alcohol whatsoever.

Q. Any narcotics such as cocaine, marijuana?

A. No.

Q. The three we discussed were the only results from the toxicology screen?

A. Yes, and just for an idea for the jury, our screen tests for three to 400 different drugs including all the different drugs of abuse such as cocaine, heroin, alcohol, as well as numerous, numerous medications as well.

Q. And none present other than the things you've already testified to?

A. Correct.

(R. p. 237-38).

“The Sixth Amendment’s Confrontation Clause guarantees that, ‘[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.’” State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 90, 773 S.E.2d 914, 921–22 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. VI.) “In Crawford v. Washington, the U.S. Supreme Court held the admission of testimonial hearsay against an accused violates the Confrontation Clause if (1) the declarant is unavailable to testify at trial and (2) the accused has had no prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant.” McCray, 413 S.C. 90, 773 S.E.2d at 921-22 (citing Crawford, 541 U.S. 36, 59 (2004)).

“The touchstone for determining whether an expert is giving an independent judgment or merely acting as a transmitter for testimonial hearsay is whether an expert is applying his training and expertise to the sources before him, thereby producing an original product that can be tested through cross-examination.” McCray, 413 S.C. 90, 773 S.E.2d at 921-22 (internal quotations omitted). The issue hinges on whether the testifying expert merely served as a conduit for introducing the results of tests that were performed by an expert who did not testify. Id.

First, the expert witness was not acting as a mere conduit when he testified to the results of the toxicology testing done by an external laboratory. Dr. Batali testified at trial concerning the procedures and processes he undertakes when conducting an autopsy on a person to determine the cause of death. Dr. Batali testified: “... also collect different samples of body fluid to send for toxicology testing. Once that’s all done we get the report together and typically produce a report that’s usually somewhere between four and six pages, after we are finished.” R. p. 225). As noted above, further in that same line of questioning Dr. Batali testified that when he gets the results back from the laboratory he then interprets them and incorporates them into his final autopsy report. Petitioner cites to a number of cases concerning police interrogation, emergency circumstances, affidavits used to prove an element of the crime, documents prepared specifically for the production of evidence to be used at trial, and parroting testimonial hearsay. The cases cited by Petitioner are dissimilar to this case and would not preclude Dr. Batali from testifying concerning the results of the toxicology report. The case *sub judice* concerns itself with an expert witness interpreting and incorporating toxicology results necessary for the completion of an autopsy into a report. The fluids were not taken from a DUI suspect for the sole purpose of being used against them in criminal prosecution, they were taken from a deceased victim for the purpose of completing an autopsy to determine the cause of death. The toxicology results, unlike

forensic testing on cocaine to prove an element of a crime, were not used in any way by the State to prove an element of murder. Dr. Batali did not simply parrot testimonial hearsay from out of court declarants, but rather testified to toxicology results used in formulating an expert opinion as to the cause of the victim's death. Petitioner has failed to show how Dr. Batali was a mere conduit for the toxicology testing done by an external laboratory.

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